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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

PATRICIA KILBY -ROBB,
Plaintiff,
v Civil Action No. 13-71§RDM)

ELISABETH DEVOS SecretaryU.S.
Department of Education

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiff Patricia KilbyRobb was passed over for a promotion at the Department of
Education in 2011. She thenedthe Department, alleging unlawful discrimination on the
bases of age, race, and colaweell asunlawful retaliationall in violation of Title VII of the
Civil Rights Act of 19@ (“Title VII") and the Age Discrimination in Employment Axft1967
(“ADEA"). The parties have since completed discovery. Because-Ridiinp has adduced no
competent evidence thlaér nonselection occurred fdiscriminatoryor retaliatory reasonghe
Court will GRANT the Department’s motion for summary judgment.

. BACKGROUND
A. Kilby -Robb’s Employment at the DepartmentPrior to 2011

Kilby-Raobb, who is AfricanAmerican,has worked as an Education Program Specialist at
the Departmendf EducatiorsinceJune 2000. Dkt. 24 at 3 (D&f Statement of Undisputed
Material Facts“SUMF’) 1 2). She was fiftytwo years old when she begaBeeDkt. 27 at 3.
Between 2000 and 2002, she worked inDiepartment’Office of Elementary and Secondary

Education, after which she was transferred to the Office of Innovation and kenpeav (“OII”).
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Dkt. 24 at 3 (Def.’sSUMF 112). The Oll ischarged withadministeringcertain discretionary
educationagrant programdncluding the Parental Information Resource Centers (“PIRC”)
program andhe CharteiSchools PrograrfCSP”). Id. (Def.’'s SUMF {1 1, 2). Kilby-Robb
worked in thePIRC programbetween 2002 and 2009, and the @$k 2009 througtthe
relevant events 2011. Id. (Def.’s SUMF § 2). She retained the same job title (Education
Program Specialist) and the same pay gr&f13, step 10) throughout her time at the
Department Dkt. 272 at 3 (Kilby-Robb Decl. ).

Between 2002 anAugust201Q Kilby-Robb filed five equal employment opportunity
(“EEO”) complaintsagainst the Departmergeneratingubstantial litigation Dkt. 27-2 at 25
seeKilby-Robb v. @Vos No. 14€v-2200 (TSC)YD.D.C. Mar. 30, 2017) (slip op.) (granting
summary judgment for the Department on all clgirKdby-Robb v. Duncan-- F. Supp. 3d--,
2016 WL 5415616 (D.D.C. Sept. 28, 2016) (granting summary judgment for the Department on
all claimg; Kilby-Robb v. Duncan77 F. Supp. 3d 164 (D.D.C. 2015) (granting summary
judgment for the Department on race and age discrimination nonseldeims and denying
summary judgment on retaliation claimKjtby-Robb v. Spelling$22 F. Supp. 2d 148 (D.D.C.
2007) (granting summary judgment for the Department on all claafi's), 309 Fed. App’x 422
(D.C. Cir. 2009). The factual bases for those complaints, howaresTot present irthe record.

What is in the record Kilby-Robb’s sworn testimony (in the form weérified
interrogatory responses and a declaration), in wshesaysthatshe was “plainly targeted” by
the Associate Assistant Deputy SecrefaryOll, Margo Anderson. Dkt. 27-2 at 1Kilpy-
Robb Resp. to Interr. No. Hee alsdkt. 272 at 26 (Kilby-Robb Decl.). Anderson, who &
Caucasianvoman abovehe ageof forty, served as KilbyRobb’s second-line supervisore(,

the supervisor of Kby-Robb’s supervisor), Dkt. 24 at 4 (DefSJMF | 4), andwas the



authorizing authority for which positions are advertised to hire or promote an egipioyeil.
Dkt. 27-2at 3 (Kilby-Robb Decl. 6).

According to KilbyRobb, Anderson “consistently” passed overfor promotions “in
favor of younger, Caucasian employees” whom Kilby-Robb views as less egi#ifiin herself.
Dkt. 27-2 at 14 (Kilby-Robb Resp. to Interr. No. Kilby-Robb lists four such employeas
examplessee idat 14-15, but does not elaborate on thelativequalifications. KilbyRobb
does say, howevethatfour of her firstline supervisors told her at various points between 2003
ard 2011 that Anderson “said she would never promote [Kilby-Robb]” and that, during a
meeting to discuss her 2007-2008 performance evaluiiby-Robb’sfirst-line manager said
that Anderson “hates” her. Dkt. 27at 4 (KilbyRobb Decl. 1B).

Kilby-Robb argues in her bridiat Anderson and her “subordinatesade”several
statements demonstrating their discriminatory biases.” Dkt. 27latilby-Robb’sdeclaration
and interrogatory responses, seeunts the following incidents, which she asserts provide
relevant background for her current claims:

(1) In 2002, Anderson told the union steward, Shelton Allen, that “certain African-
Americans should not have been promoted, particularly a certain Aficenican male
who[m] [Anderson] dichot like.” Dkt. 272 at15-16 Kilby-Robb Resp. to Interr. No.
5). Inresponse, Allen “became agitated and calledAnderson racist.1d. Kilby-Robb
does not explain how she has personal knowledge of this incifeatid.

(2) On another unspecifieaccasion, several AfricaAmerican men whom Anderson had
passed over for promotion confronted Anderson, and Anderson “stated that there were

African-American males that did not deserve to be promoted.” Dkt. 27-2 at 15 (Kilby-



Robb Resp. to Interr. No. 5). Kilby-Robb does not explain how she has personal
knowledge of this incident, eitheBee id.

(3) During a meeting in 2004ilby-Robb heard one of Anderson’s subordinatese that
the subordinatéwould hire AfricanAmerican males ifthe subordinate¢ould find any
who were competent.Dkt. 272 at 4 (KilbyRobb Decl. § 7). Anderson said nothing to
refute the statementd.

(4) In December 2004lina ReesanAssociate Deputy Secretaitpld Kilby-Robbthat
Kilby-Robb “should have beeriréd’ for filing an EEO complaint? Dkt. 27-2 at 4
(Kilby-Robb Decl. B).

(5) Also in December 2004&ilby-Robb’sthentirst-line supervisor, John Fiegel, told her
that he “want[ed] [her] out of [his] program.” Dkt. 27at 4 (Kilby-Robb Decl. 1 9).
Kilby-Robb does not state why shalibvesthis statemenhad a discriminatory or
retaliatory motive See id.

(6) On an unspecifiedate Fiegel told KilboyRobb that “he had previously planned to submit
a request for payment on [her] behalf for [herygmr as an ‘acting team leader,” but
that “he was no longer going to submit this request because [she] had filed an EEO cas
Dkt. 272 at 4 (Kilby-Robb Decl. 1B).

(7) On another unspecifietdate, an Assistant Associate Deputy Secretary for Oll, Michael
Pdrilli, called Kilby-Robb to his office for a meeting and “stated, in reference to [her]

EEO complaint, “You have been a manager, and you know what is happening to you,

1 In oneof Kilby-Robb’sprior lawsuits, Rees’s statement wasld competent circumstantial
evidencdrom whicha reasonable jurgouldfind that Kilby-Robb’s 2005 nonselection to
another position in thBIRC office was motivated by retaliatory anim&ee Kilby-Robb77
Fed. Supp. 3d at 176. The trial resulted in a verdict for the def&eseKilby-Robb v. Duncan
No. 12€v-1718 (CRC), ECF No. 82 (D.D.C. Sept. 25, 2015).
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don’'t you?” Dkt. 272 at 4 (Kilby-Robb Decl. ). Kilby-Robb adds that Petrilli “td

[her] that [she] had to do what Macie Brown, Stacy Kreppel, and CourtneypPRidlld

[her] to do,”id., but Kilby-Robb does napecifywho those individuals are or what they

“told her to do.”

In 2009, Kilby-Robb was transferred to the G8ftce, whae her firstline supervisor
was initiallyDean Kern Dkt. 27-2 at 14 (Kilby-Robb Resp. to Interr. No. 5). Kern had
previously been one of Kilby-Robbfseers but had been promoted over her to the position of
Director of the CSPId. Kilby-Robb statethat she “was the only person assigned to be
supervised by” Kern, that Kern “immediately removed all of [her] higher ldweés,” andhat
Kern*“worked closely with . . . Anderson to attempt to get rid of [heljl” Kilby-Robb declares
“on information and belief” that Kern and his succesSonttPearson, “refused to assign
[Kilby -Robb] CSP grants to prevent [her] from receiving a promotion in the CSP.” DRtaR7-
4-5 (Kilby-Robb Decl. § 10).

B. The 2011SMPA Vacancy Announcement

In June 2011Stefan Huh, an Asid@aucasian man over fortyecamea Supervisory
Managenent and Program Analy§tSMPA”) in the CSPoffice. Dkt. 24 at 4 (Def.’ SUMF
13). Shortly thereaftetHuh decided to create a new SMPA position, whose occupant would
sharehis responsibilities.Dkt. 24 at 4 (Def.’SSUMF { 8); Dkt. 24-1 at 4749 (Hsu Aff. {118,

28, 30). Because Huh was relatively new to the agency, the @kécutive Officer, Pat Knight,
“discuss|ed] with him the selection process and the possible forms he couldk$e24-2at

11 (Knight Aff. § 10). Knight did not, howevédiscuss the selection [itdgbr [any]
applicants’ Id. Huhattestghat neither Anderson nor Knight “influenced. or contacted” him

regarding the positigmather, they mergl“reinforcedthe need and expectation that there would



be an appropriate and fair interview procesBKt. 24-1 at 47 (Huh Aff. § 18accordDkt. 24-2
at 3 (Anderson Aff. 11 9-14) (“I was not involved in any way with the selection for this
position.”); id. at 11 (Knight Aff. 1 9—13) (“I did not try to influence the selection for this
position in any way.”)see alsad. at 20 (Araujo Aff. 1 1415);id. at 31 (Ceja Aff. [1L4-15).
According to Huh, “[p]osting and designing the position was all at [his] disaretad under
[his] control.” Dkt. 24-1 at 47 (Huh Aff. § 18).

The newSMPA position was listed in a public vacancy announcefinemt September 9
2011, toSeptember 162011. Dkt. 24 at 5 (Def.'SUMF  11);seeDkt. 24-3 at 2-4. It carried
a GS14 pay grade. Dkt. 24-3 at 2. According to the announcement, the position was
establishedo help“oversee key grant programs and contracts,” “supervise employees,” and
analyzeboththe effectivenesand efficiencyof generalCSPprogramsand managementid.
The announcement emphasized that the hiree would ovbesg@ntprograms for “state
education agencies” (“SEAs®)non-SEAs, and Charter School Management Organizations
(“CMOs’). Id. The hiree wouldlso“oversee and implement” the “National Charter Schools
Resource contract.ld. In service of this last requiremerttethiree wouldhave tobe certified
as a “contracting officer representative,” or “CORd"

The official job descriptionisted specific*unique position requirements”

1. Oversee the following Charter School grant programs SEA, NorRSEA,
CMO. This involves the following . . . :

2 A “[s]tate educational agency” is a term of art in the field meaning “the agemgrily
responsible for the State supervision of public elementary schools and secondary’s@dools
U.S.C.A. § 7801(49).



a. Direct and oversee alldivities for the program grant competitions and
awarding of grantsincluding: drafting federal register notices; creating
application packages; drafting technical review plans; overseeing
competition management and panel facilitation; completing intezmgw;
analyzing applicant budgets and determining any budget modifications;
drafting a slate memo for Departmental clearance; processing awards; and
communicating with approved and disapproved applicants.

b. Direct and oversee the monitoring of granitscluding interacting with
current prospective grantees and responding to their concerns and
guestions; conducting peatvard calls; conducting quarterly monitoring
updates; updatin@5 accounts and spreadsheets; consulting with OGC as
guestions arise; and tracking grantee responsiveness to our monitoring visits
and reviews.

c. Direct and oversee the process to award the noncompetitive grant
continuation awardscluding reviewing budgets and grant drawdowns and
preparing continuation recommendatipns

2. Supervise and manage at least three employedsng responsibility for
assisting them achieve their professional objectives; providing oversight,
coaching, feedback, and assistance on a regular basis; setting REACH critical
elements andperformance standards; providing interim and Jerad
evaluations, and addressing any conduct or performance issues.

3. [O]versee implementation of the National Charter Schools Resource Center
contractincluding developing the contract's annual modifications, providing
weekly guidance to the contractor on the execution of the contract; overseeing
implementation of the major elements of the contract; reviewingdiachnd
expenditures to ensurefficient use of federal funds.A certified COR is
required.

4. Represent the program to stakeholders and outside constitueimakesling
leading project director's meetings, providing first secondevel responses
to grantees, communicating with outside parties, and representing the
Department before stakeholder groups.
Dkt. 244 at 89 (emphass added)Kilby-Robb states in her declaration thatvheancy
announcement “did not use the standard elements for ‘Grants Management’ and ‘G&R’ dut

and responsibilities, which are typically used for [SMPA] positions.” Dk 275 (Kilby

Robb Decl. § 11).



C. Kilby -Robb’s Nonselection

The Human Resources department identified two emplaykemit “deemed to be
gualified”: (1) Kilby-Robb, who was then sixty-three years aldd (2) Erin Pfeltz, girty-two-
yearold Caucasian woman with no prior EEO activity. Dkt. 24-1 at 45 (Huh Aff. fat@yprd
Dkt. 24 at 6 (Defs SUMF 1 17, 18).Both candidates were selected for interviews.

1. Kilby-Robb’sQualifications

Kilby-Robb holds two degrees from Howard Unsigr. a Bachelor’s in psychology,
educationand mathematics she earned 970, and a Master’s in developmental psychology
and educatioshe earned it974. Dkt. 24-Jat 34(Kilby-Robb Resume). She has also pursued
other educational opportunities, including participating in two Ph.D. prograim8efore
startingher career at the Departmestespent fm]ore than twentyfive years” as meducator in
the District of Columbia public school systerd. at 31, 34. Between 1968 and 1999, she
worked in local public schools in varioaapacities includingeacher, counselor, anttimately,
principal. Id. at 36-37. In the mid1990s, she led a “twgear quest” for her school’s elementary
school accreditation, which the school received in 1987at 37. $ie wasat one poinselected
the“Principal of the Year.”ld. at 36. In addition, between October 1999 and June 2000, she
worked as an “education consultant,” where she implemented educational refotans to “
around low-performing schools” across the countlg. at 36.

In 2000, Kilby-Robb began working at the DepartmerihanOffice of Elementary and
Secondary Education, where she worked until 2002. Some of her responsibilities involved
“grants management.id. at 35. Between 2002 and 2009, she worked i©tlie PIRC office.

Id. In that capacity, she again served as a gennéw competition mangémn 2002, 2003, and

2006, and served as the COR for the NationRldRCoordination Center, whiclaccording to



her resumeequired her to “[rleviely and approve[] performance and evaluation electronic
system|s] to collect, compile, summarize, and analyze qualitative and quanpafimenance
data.” Id. Finally, in 2009, she began work at the CSkRceffwhere she “was not given any
grants in the Charter Schools program.” Dkt. 24-3 at 47 (Kilby Robb. Resp. to Interr. 11 in
anotherof her lawsuity see alsdDkt. 29-1 at 2-3 (Kilby-Robb Dep. 2728). Instead, she
worked primarily on “funds in educatiomjrants which she characterizes as “low level” work
“generally reserved for career interns @maployees below a G®2 level.” Dkt. 24-3at47-48.

2. Pfeltz’s Qualifications

Pfeltz received a Bachelor’'s degree in Econorfim® St. Mary’'s College oMaryland
in 2001, and a Master’degredn International Affairs from George Washington University in
2003. Dkt. 24-3 at 36 (Pfeltz Resumé)s Kilby-Robb emphasizes, Margo Andersaga.{
Kilby-Robb’s second-line supervispwasthe sister oPfeltz’saunt,andencouraged Pfeltz to
apply to the Department after graduation. Dkt. 27 at 9 (citing Dkt. 28-1 gP1€liz Dep.
100)).

Pfeltz did apply, and in 2004 sheganher careem the CSP office, Dkt. 24-3 at 35,
where sh@rogressedjuickly through the ranksHer initial rolewas as a G§ Management and
Program Analystfor the non-SEA grantee portfolio.” Dkt. 28-1 at 11 (Pfeltz Dep. 10).
Thirteen months later, she was promoted to GS-9, and took on responsibility forefa larg
portfolio of [nonSEA] grantes.” Id. at 14-15(Pfeltz Dep. B—14). Many of her responsibilities
were among those specifically listed in the new position’s description, incluttingfting the
[federalregister] notices for the grant competitiord” at 15-16 (Pfeltz Dep. 14-15), “putting
together the technical review p[ah” id. at 16 20 (Pfeltz Dep. 15, 19)participating in

competition as a panel monitord. at 11 (Pfeltz Dep. 10), “completing budget reviews” and



making funding recommendationd, at 67 (Pfeltz Dep. 66); “developirsiate memaos,id.;
“‘communication with the granteesd. at 11 (Pfetlz Dep. 10); “review of performance reports
and data submitted by grantees [to] determine[] whether or aotegs in thgrant program
w[ere] performing well,"id. at 54-55 (Pfeltz Dep. 53-54); providing technical assistance to
granteesid. at 24 (Pfeltz Dep. 23); “conducting monitoring and site visits for granteest 22
(Pfeltz Dep. 21); and “developing the peeviewer training and setting up the peer reviewer
system in [the] G5 [software]jt. at 20 (Pfeltz Dep. 19)After anothertwelve months, she was
promoted again to a GS-11 Management aiogi@m Analyst.ld. at20-21 (Pfeltz Dep. 19—
20). Her responsibilities at this level remained largely the same but at “a more autenomo
level.” 1d. at22 (Pfeltz Dep. 21).

In September 2009, Pfelteceived a promotioto a GS13 Management and Pnagn
Analyst, the highest possible grade for that positionat 28 (Pfeltz Dep. 27)Her duties
continued to involve “grant competitions and management and monitoring of grantees and grant
programs,’id. at 29 (Pfeltz Dep. 28), but her promoti@iso carriedwo newresponsibilities
First, she “began to take over responsibility for a new grant program”: the coiopéadr
Charter School Management Organizatiolts.at 32 (Pfeltz Dep. 31)Becauséhe CMO
program “was a new competition that hadn’t been run before,” Pfeltz had to “[work] from
scratch” to develop criteria by which CMOs would be solicitedenraduated.ld. at 32-33
(Pfeltz Dep. 31-32). Second, startindah 2009, Pfeltzerved as “the primary COR” for the
National Charter Schools Resource Center contidcat 60—61 (Pfeltz Dep. 59—60ccord id.
at40 (Pfeltz Dep. 39). Her role as COR required her to “represent [the Departionent]
stakeholders and constituencies,” including at the National Charter Schootébaefand “the

occasional” State Charter School Confererideat 62—63 (Pfeltz Dep. 61-62). On August 20,
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2010, Pfeltz’s supervisor nominated fara “Special Act Award,” praising her for “steppl[ing]
up to essentially oversee the CMO competition on her own,” while simultanéoushg[eeing]
[the] relationshipwith Learning Point and the Manal Charter Resource CenterDkt. 244 at
11.

Pfeltz agrees, however, that the time the contested SMPA position became available in
2011, she hadnly “a little” experience with th&EA program (as opposed to the rigisA
program, with which she wasgell-versed), Dkt. 28-at 39 (Pfeltz Dep. 38), antthatshe*had no
responsibility for supervising employeeg]’ at54 (Pfeltz Dep. 53).

3. The Interview and Selection Process

Huhwas the “selecting official” for the new GBl SMPA position, Dkt. 24-1 at 45 (Huh
Aff. § 10), but the interview and evaluation was conductedmnal! of three people: (1) Liza
Araujo, an African-American woman over forty; (2) Beatriz Ceja, a Hispaommanm wer forty;
and (3) Huh himself, Dkt. 24 at 7{Bef.’s SUMF {|{ 21, 3). The panelnterviewed both
Kilby-Robb and Pfeltz, using the same set of interview questidngDef.’s SUMF § 22). The
candidates were given equal time to respond to each quektioAraujo’s notes documesd
the candidates’ answer§eeDkt. 24-4 at 13-17, 19—2Fach panel member scored each
applicant individually. Dkt. 24 at 7 (Def.SUMF { 23. The score$rom the panel members
were then combinetfor agroup consensusit ameeting Id. Kilby-Robb received a total score
of 6, wheeasPfeltz received a score of 7.5. Dkt. 24-4 at 2, 4.

The panel agreed that, althougitby-Robb “ha[d] more supervisory experience,” she
was “not able to demonstrate a full understanding of the technical area.” Dkt. 28-(Hath
Aff. § 12). “In the very general policy area of charter schools,”dttidsted”Pfeltz was able to

bette demonstrate her understandofdactors that impact charter schabdlsd. (Huh Aff. I 14).
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He added thaPfeltz“demonstrated greater understanding thankdidy-Robb egarding
“federal grant programs, designing new programs, conducting grant coomset#nd
monitoring grantees at a high leveld. Araujo concurredhat Pfeltz “demonstratedcear
understanding of the full scope of the jotiiat Pfeltz’'s work experiences were “consistent with
the requirements of th[e] position”; and that her “responses were more comprelaasi
thought out,” whereas Kilby-Robbanswerswere more generand focused more on her work
with other programs.” Dkt. 24-2 at 20 (Araujo Aff. § 18)eja alsaagreedhat Pfeltz “was
morecomprehensiven herresponsé€sandthat “[b]ecause of her backgroundfeltz] displayed
a detailed knowledgef the programsdr th[e] position.” Id. at 31 (Ceja Aff. fL.3). “It was the
joint consensus of the panel that [Pfeltz] was Qastified for the position,” so Huh selected
Pfeltz Dkt. 24-1 at 45, 47 (Huh Aff. 11 10, 15).
D. The Current Litigation

On January 5, 2012, KilbRRobb filed a formal discrimination complaint with the
Department’s EEO officeDkt. 1 at 6 (Compl. { 30%ee id.at 10 The Department undertook
an investigationseeDkt. 1 at 15-29 (InvestigativBummary), and collected affidavit testimony
from Kilby-Robb, Dkt. 241 at 4-25; Huh,id. at 44-53; Anderson, Dkt. 22-at 2-5; Knight,id.
at 16-16; Araujo,id. at 18-24; Cejajd. at 29-33; and an additional withess whose testimony is
notin the recordseeDkt. 1 at 12-13. On February 7, 2013, the Department issued a final
decision finding that no unlawful discrimination occurred. Dkt. 1 at 30k4@y-Robb then
filed apro secomplaint in this CourtSeeDkt. 1 at 6 (Compl. 1 32—34). Slag¢erretained
counsel. Dkt. 7. The parties engaged in discovery for almost nine msgebt. 6; Minute

Entry of November 13, 2014, atitk Departmenthen moved for summary judgment, Dkt. 24.
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. LEGAL STANDARD

The movingparty isentitled to summary judgment under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
56 if it can“show] that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and Jtisantitled
to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). When, as here, the plainsiffieear
ultimate burden of proof, but the defendant has moved for summary judgment, the defendant
“bears the initial responsibility” of “identifying those giions” of the record that “demonstrate
the absence of a genuine issue of material facelotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 323
(1986). A fact is “material” if it could affect the substantive outcome of the litigatee
Anderson v. Liberty Lolyh Inc, 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). And a dispute is “genuine” if the
evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmovingSeartgcott
v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 380 (2007). In determining whether the nonmoving partyises aa
genuine issue of material dispute, the Couust view the evidence in the light most favorable to
the nonmoving party and must draw all reasonable inferences in that party:s$aeor alavera
v. Shah638 F.3d 303, 308 (D.C. Cir. 2011).

“Although summary judgment is not the occasion for the court to weigh credibility or
evidence, . . summary judgment is appropriate if the nonmoving party fails to make a showing
sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that partyanthea which that
party will bear the burden of proof at triallt. (internal citations and quotation marks omitted).
The nonmoving party’s opposition, accordingly, must consist of more than unsupported
allegations or denials and must be supported by affidavits, declarations, or otheteadm
evidence, setting forth specific facts showing that there is a genuineassualf SeeFed. R.

Civ. P. 56(9; Celotex 477 U.S. at 324. That is, once the moving party carries its initial burden

on summary judgment, the nonmoving party must provide evidence that would permit a
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reasonable jury to find in its favo6ee Laningham v. U.S. NaB13 F.2d 1236, 1241 (D.C. Cir.
1987). If the nonmoving party's evidence is “merely colorable” or “not significantlyative,”
the Court should grant summary judgmehiberty Lobby 477 U.S. at 249-50.

lll. ANALYSIS

Title VII prohibits thefederalgovernmenfrom discriminatingagainst its employees on
the basis of race or color, 42 U.S.C. § 2000eah@, from retaliatingagainsemployeesvho
participate m Title VII investigations or proceedingsee id.8 2000e3(a); Walker v. Johnsgn
798 F.3d 1085, 1091 (D.C. Cir. 201(6)ting Barnes v. Costles61 F.2d 983, 988 (D.C. Cir.
1977)). The ADEAIlikewise prohibitsthe federagovernmentrom discriminatingagainst its
employeesgel forty or older on the basis of age, 29 U.S.C. § 633afa) from retaliating
against thenfior filing age discrimination complaisfGomezPerez v. Potter553 U.S. 474, 479
(2008).

Whentheemployeerelies on circumstantial evidentie proveheremployer’sintent,her
claimsare evaluatednderthefamiliar burdenshifting framework oMcDonnell Douglas Corp.
v. Green4l1l U.S. 792 (1973)See, e.gDeJesus v. WP Co. L1841 F.3d 527, 532 (D.C. Cir.
2016) {Title VIl and ADEA discrimination);Jones v. Bernank&57 F.3d 670, 677 (D.C. Cir.
20009) (ritle VIl and ADEA retaliation). “Under this formula, an employee must first make out a
prima facie case of retaliation or discrimination. The employer must then consdovith a
legitimate, nondiscriminatory or nenetaliatory reason for the challenged actioMbrris v.
McCarthy, 825 F.3d 658, 668 (D.C. Cir. 2016) (citations omittedihce the employesroffers a
legitimate nordiscriminatory and nometaliatoryreason, however, the Court “need natrd
should not—decide whether the plaintiff actually made out a prima facie cd&ady v. Office

of Sergeant at Arm$20 F.3d 490, 494 (D.C. Cir. 2008). Instead, the Court should decide only
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the ultimate question?Hasthe employee produced sufficient evidence for a reasonalgléo
find that the employes’ asserted nondiscrinatory f[andnon+etaliatory] reason was not the
actual reasoand that the employer intentionally discriminated against the employee on the basis
of race, color[or age], [or retaliated against the employee for engaging in proteatteityh?”
Id.; accod Morris v. McCarthy 825 F.3d at 668Allen v. Johnson795 F.3d 34, 39 & n.4 (D.C.
Cir. 2015). On this question|t]'he ultimate burden of persua[sion] remains at all times with
the plaintiff.” Jackson v. Gonzaled496 F.3d 703, 706 (D.C. Cir. 20Q(fiyst alteration in
original) (quotingReeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods., B®0 U.S. 133, 143 (2000)).
Kilby-Robb contendthather2011 nonselection for the SMPA positiconstituted
unlawful discriminatioron the basis of race, color, aage, as well ataliationunder Title VII
and the ADEA® Dkt. 1 at 6 (Compl.  33)And the Department has proffered a legitimate
reason fothe nonselection-ramely, that “Pfeltz was the stronger candidate.” Dkt. 24;at 15

see alsdkt. 24-1 at 6—-46 (Huh Aff. {1 10-14)Theonly question, thereforés whether a

3 In addition to the nonselection, Kilby-Roblps secomplaint might be read to allege that the
Department discriminated on the basis of age when it planradbtate employees between the
group supervised by Huh and the group supervised by the newly-hired S&#eBkt. 1 at 5
(Compl. 11 25—-27). Employees age forty or younger were allegedlypladed in the first
group, while older employees were allegedly to be placed in the selcbri@ompl. T 25).

The Department’s motion addresses this claim by arguing, among other thjrigas (he
allocations were based not on age but on the characteristics of the employgeshpr@2) that
one overforty employee was placed in thygoung” group and one undéorty employee was
placed in théold” group; and (3) that KilboyRobb’s placement in one supervisory group rather
than another is not an “adverse action” cognizable under the ADEA. Dkt. 24 at 26-27. Kilby-
Robb’s opposition does not address thissees SeeDkt. 27.

The Department’s factual asgsens are taken as concedsdelLocal Civil Rule 7(h), and the
Department’s legal assertion is corresgte, e.g.Broderick v. Donaldsqgm37 F.3d 1226, 1233—
34 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (holding that f@an employedo have her work reviewed by one supervisor
rather tharanother does not by itselbstitutean adverse employment action). On these
grounds, the Court will grant summary judgment for the Department on this issue.
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reasonable jury couldrfd this stated reasontd{ bgd a mask” for discrimination or retaliation
Allen, 795 F.3d at 39.
A. Race, Color, and Age Discrimination

AlthoughKilby-Robbdoesnot neatly organize hargumentsseeDkt. 27 at 29-40 he
Court will considerthe following categories in turn(1) arguments from the purported disparity
in qualificationbetween KilbyRobb and Pfeltz; (2) arguments fréfeltz’'salleged
“preselection’(i.e., thatthenew positionwasdesigned specifically for Pfeltz(3) arguments
from alleged proceduraeficiencies in the selectigarocess; and (4) arguments from witnegt
Courtcan only describasan allegedonspiracy’

None of hese arguments is persuasive.

1. QualificationsGap

Kilby-Robbargueghat her qualificationgvere so superior tBfeltz’'sthat a reasonable
jury couldinfer thatthe Department’groffered reasors pretextual Dkt. 27 at 30-31, 36—40
accordDkt. 1 at 3—4Compl. 1111-20). Althouglthis Court does not sit as a “super-personnel
department,Wheeler v. Georgetown Univ. Hosp12 F.3d 1109, 1114 (D.C. Cir. 2018),
gualifications gapnayprovide evidence of pretext if “a reasonable employer would have found
the plaintiff to besignificantlybetter qualified for the jobthan the applicant who was selected,

Hamilton v. Geithner666 F.3d 1344, 1352 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (emphasis added) (qubkiag.

4 In addition,Kilby-Robb’s complaintorrectly observes thatetext may be inferred frothe
employer’s “general treatment of minority employeeallen, 795 F.3d at 40seeDkt. 1 at 5
(Compl. 1 28) The Departmentesponds with &st of minority andaboveforty Oll employees
promoted through vacancy announcements between 2008 and 2014. Dkt. 24 at SUMF’s
1130, 31);seeDkt. 24-2 at 38-39. Although Kilby-Robb’s brief quibbles with the list as not
including two individuals Kilby-Robb believes to have been promasseDkt. 27 at 34-35, she
does not meaningfully argue thhe list’'s contents givase to an inference of preteat that the
list otherwise demonstrates a pattermistriminatory treatment of employe@yven with the
modifications that she proffers).
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Wash. Hosp. Ctr.156 F.3d 1284, 1294 (D.C. Cir. 1998)t is not enough, howevef,a
reasonableuror could find the employer’s decisidietween the candidates to have batose.”
Id. To permit an inference of pretextie “disparity in qualifications must be ‘great enough to
be inherently indicative of discriminatidnld. That is,the plaintiff must be “markedly more
qualified,” ‘substantially more qualified,” or ‘significantly better gtied’ than the successful
candidate.”ld. (quotingHolcomb v. Powe]l433 F.3d 889, 897 (D.C. Cir. 20063ge alspe.qg,
Kilby-Robb v. Duncan77 F. Supp. 3d at 171-74 (applying this standard taiaoKilby-Robb
was not “significantly better qualified” than the candidate selected fofaaefitposition in
2005).

Here, the newly created SMPA position carfiegr “unique position requirements.”
First, he newSMPA's primary responsibility was to “[o]versee the following Chartérost
grant programs. .: SEA, NoRSEA, [and] CMO.” Dkt. 24-4 at 8. This job would entalil
“[d]irect[ing] and oversee[ing] all activities for the program dremmpetition” and “the
monitoring of grants.”ld. It would also require the SMPA to develop and evaluate new grant
programs and management policies. Dkt. 24-3 at 2. Second, the SMPA would have to
“[s]upervise and manage at least three employelekt” 24-4 at 8. Third, the SMPA would
have to “oversee implementation of the National Charter Schools Resource Gatrisstc Id.
And fourth, the SMPA would have to “[r]lepresent the program to stakeholders and outside
constituencies.”ld. The SMPA waslso required to be aértified COR” Dkt. 24-3 at 2.

Having spent seven years at 8Poffice as a Managemenha@ Program Analyst,
Pfeltz was indisputably wetjualified for the position of Supervisolanagement and Program
Analyst As Kilby-Robb acknowledges, Pfeltz quicldycelledduring her tenure at the

Department “[S]he received a merit promotion or step increase every single year of her
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employment.” Dkt. 27 at 33 (KilbfRobb’s Opp. Br.).In addition, the undisputed evidence
showsthatPfeltz brought a wealth of highhglevant experienceln terms of the first unique
position requirement, Pfeltz had spent seven years managing an expanding proptrgoroof
SEA grant progranand competition. That role required her regularly to perform more than ten
of the specific job responsibilitidsted in the new job’s descriptiorfseesupraPartl.C.2.
Pfeltzhad also spent two years running the fledgling CMO program, requiring her togleve
and apply entirely new criteria for anailyg the effectiveness of program competitions and
grants andfor which she received a “Special Act Award” nominatidn terms of the third and
fourth unique position requirements, moreoweltz had been the primary certifi€®R on the
National Charter Schools Resource Contratte-specifiaccontractover which the new SMPA
would have oversight. This role had requiRddItzto “represent [the Department] to
stakeholders and constituencies.” So tight was the nexus betwéeis Rfgerienceand the
new job’s descriptionifact, Kilby-Robb herself allegebat the position had been designed
specificallyfor Pfeltz. Seeinfra Part 1ll.A.2 “Given that [Pfeltz] was clearly qualified for the
position, Kilby-Robb has a high bar to meet in order to show that she was so much more
qualified that a jury could reasonably conclude that [the Department] selBédd][for
discriminatory reasons.Kilby-Robh 77 F. Supp. 3d at 173.

In responseKilby-Robb primarilyemphasizethedisparity between the two candidates’
experiencesupervising employeesSeeDkt. 27 at 36—37 As Kilby-Robb stresseffeltz
testified thashe had “had no supervisory experience,” whereas Kilby-Robb spent more than
twenty-five years in the education field in various capacities, including as a ptindghaBut
Kilby-Robb’s longer supervisotyack recorddoes not amount @ qualifications gap “great

enough to be inherently indicative of discriminatioddckson496 F.3dat 707.
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First, althoughKilby-Robb did have many years of supervisory experience, she
“accumulated nearly all oft] . . . outsiddthe CSP office].” Pearsall v. Holder610 F. Supp. 2d
87, 101 (D.D.C. 2009)At the time of the selection, Kilbirobb had spersicarcelytwo yearsat
CSPR andthe time shéadspent there was dedicated+tm Kilby-Robb’s own words—low
level” work “generally reserved for career interns and employees belv12 level.” Dkt.
24-3 at 48. Pfeltz, by contrast, had worle SPfor seven yeardiadtakensignificant
responsibility for two of three programs the new SMPA would ovessebmanaged the
specific contracwvith which the new SMPA would bgharged Thus, & in Kilby-Robb’s
previous onselection lawsuit, “KilbyRobb’s qualifications” were simply “less closely aligned
to the position’s requirements than were [the ultimate selecteek§]By-Robh 77 F. Supp. 3d
at173.

Secondwhile the interviewing panel recognized that KiBypbb "ha[d] more
supervisory experience,” Dkt. 24-1 at 46 (Huh Aff. § 12), they uniformly found that Pfeltz had a
deeper understanding of the relevant policy area and job responsibilitigmvamiore
thorough and specific answabout what the job entailesge id.(Huh Aff. 11 12, 14); Dkt.
24-2at 20 (Aruajo Aff. 13);id. at31 (Ceja Aff. 113). Aruajo’s interview notesonfirm that
impression CompareDkt. 24-4 at 13-17 (Kilby-Robb notesyith id. at 19-23 (Pfeltz notés
But, even assuming—as the Court mutitat Kilby-Robb was more qualified with respect to
oneof the four unique position requirements, “it is not for the Court to assess whichegualiti
should weigh more heavily for an employer’ in determining which candidate td f@lec
promotion.” Bell v. Donley 928 F. Supp. 2d 174, 180 (D.D.C. 2013) (alterations removed)
(quotingPendleton v. Holder697 F. Supp. 2d 12, 18 (D.D.C. 201®pe also Jacksod96 F.3d

at 709(“[W] e will not second-guess how an employer weighs particular factors in the hiring
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decision”). No reasonable jury could find that the choiceveaght relevance and depth of
substantive experience mdreavily thanexperiencesupervising employeas so irrational as to
raise the specter of discrimination.

The remainder of Kill»-Robb’s arguments amount to the claim that KiRgbb could
have done the SMPA job adequately despite her lack of specific relevant expetstbnctée
CSP office Shewrites for example, that “[i]t is disingenuous for [the Departmém@ssert
thatMs. Kilby-Robb’s grant management and contract management experiences were different
thanMs. Pfeltz’s. . . experiences simply becaubts. Kilby-Robb worked with PIRC grants and
contractsandMs. Pfeltz worked with CSP grants and contracts. [l]t is clear that both PIRC
and CSP grants and contracts utilized the same skill sbtg.”27 at 30—31see alsad. at 32
(“There was no legitimate reason for [the Department] to specifically fdehé National
Charter Schools Resource Center [c]ontract because there were no uniegetskiisociated
with this contract.”)jd. at 37—40 &rguinggenerallythat Kilby-Robb’s work in the PIRC office
was analogous to Pfeltz’'s work at CSP). Indéleel record revealsilby-Robbs general
skepticismthat theSMPA position requiredny special skills at allAsked at deposition whether
Kilby-Robb thought the new position would require “specialized knowledggieo€harter
Schools Program, she responded:

I’'m going to say, “How so?” Because you read the statute, if you know how to

read legislation, you understand the Charter Schools Program. If you know how to
implement the statute, you understand the Charter Schools Program.

Dkt. 24-3 at 42 (Kilby-Robb Dep. 57).

These arguments, however, are “groundgilby -Robb’s] own ‘subjective
assessments of [her] own credentials,” which are ‘largely irrelef@mpurposes of establishing
discriminatory motive.”Bell, 928 F. Supp. 2d at 180 (second alteration in original) (quoting

Washington v. Cha®77 F. Supp. 2d 27, 44 (D.D.C. 2008)). Instead, the relevant question is
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whether thalecisionmakers’ understanding of the two candidates’ qualifications renitog-
Robb ‘significantlybetter qualified for the job.’"Holcomh 433 F.3d at 897. Aiest, Kilby
Robb’s arguments shothiata reasonable jury could find that, notwithstandiigltz’s
substantiallynore on-point experience, Kilby-Robb could have performed thaugi as well.
That may be soBut “[t]hat is not enough ...to demonstrate that the [Department’s] reliance on
comparative qualifications was a pretext for discriminatialatkson496 F.3d at 708:This
Court will not reexamine governmental promotion decisions where it appears then@ener
was faced with a difficult decision between two qualified candidates, particuthen there is
no other evidence that race played a part in the decisldn(tjuotingStewart v. Ashcraof852
F.3d 422, 430 (D.C. Cir. 2003)). And the undisputed evidence shows that Kilby-Redsb “
simply not discernibly bettethan the candidate promotédd. The qualifications gap,
accordingly,does not suppo#gn inference that KilbyRobb’s nonselectiowas motivated by
unlawful discrimnation or retaliation.

2. Alleged” Preselectioh

Kilby-Robb also argues that a reasonable jury could find that Pfeltz had been
“preselected” for the SMPA position, ihesense that the new position had béeritten
specifically fot' Pfeltz. Dkt. 27 at 32accordDkt. 1 at 4-5 (Compl. 11 21-24). In support, she
points to the vacancy announcement’s statement that the hiree would be resportstse for
National Charter Schools Resource Center contraattontract that Pfeltz was already
managing. Dkt. 27 at 32. She also points to her own testimony that the vacancy announcement
“did not use the standard elements” to describe the “Grants ManagementCaml ‘tuties and
responsibilities, id. (citing Dkt. 272 at 5 (KilbyRobb Decl. § 11)), and that “it was common

knowledge” that Pfeltz “had been identified as the selectee before any announcemaade,”
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id. at 30 (citing Dkt. 272 at5 (Kilby-Robb Decl. § 14))From this, KilbyRobb says, the jury
could irfer that the Department’s proffered justification is pretext&deDkt. 27 at 31-35.

Theproblem with this argument, however, is that “[p]reselecting a candidate for a
position based upon his or her qualifications ispestseimproper.” Kilby-Robh 77 Fed. Supp.
3d at 169-7(@citing Nyunt v. Tomlinsarb43 F. Supp. 2d 25, 39 (D.D.C. 2008)). Indeed, “where
the selection is to be made from among a narrow band of current employeksomailto the
selectors, it is hard to see how there cawdthbe a subsintial degree of prselection.” Kolstad
v. Am. Dental Ass'ril39 F.3d 958, 969 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (emphasis addedgted on other
grounds 527 U.S. 526 (1999). As such, “[flor preselection to raise an inference of
discrimination, evidence must demoastrthat the employer preselected a candidate out of a
discriminatory motive or that the employer broadly uses preselectiomathad of disguising
discrimination and did so in this particular casKitby-Robh 77 Fed. Supp. 3d at 170 (citing
Glass v. Lahood786 F. Supp. 2d 189, 224-25 (D.D.C. 2011), Baldvera v. Fore648 F.
Supp. 2d 118, 135-36 (D.D.C. 2009)). Thine possibility of preselection itseH.e., the
possibilitythat the vacancy announcemeiats written with Pfeltz in ming-doesnot furher
Kilby-Robb’s case absent som@ditional evidence of discriminatorgr(retaliatory motive.

3. Alleged Procedural Deficiencies

Kilby-Robbalso argues that pretext may be inferred fthenallegation in her brief that
“the Agency volated its own competitive selection procedures.” Dkt. 27 at 32—33. As far as the
Court can tell, this amounts toreearguments. First, KilbyRobb argues that the Department
failedin its obligation to “fill vacant positions on the basis of merit and fithessause Pfeltz
was initially hired to the Department by Anderson, Pfeltz’'s aunt’s sistesm she had known

“for twenty-four years’ Id. at 33. But it goes without saying that “[flavoritisimased on criteria
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other than [race, color, age, or other protected characteristicdpes not violate the federal
antidiscrimination laws and does not raise an inference of discriminatidousley v. Boeing
Co, 177 F. Supp. 2d 1209, 1217 (D. Kan. 2001). Afeyen if a plaintiff ‘was victimized by
poor selection procedures,’ [the Cositit]] may not ‘secondyuess an employer's personnel
decision absent demonstrably discriminatory motivéidirston v. Vance-Cook373 F.3d 266,
272 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (quotingischbach v. D.C. Dep’t of Corr86 F.3d 1180, 1183 (D.C. Cir.
1996)). Nothing about this alleged and unsubstantiated nepotism furthers Kilby-Raah's ca

Second, KilbyRobb argues that Pfeltz received “preferential treatment” at the
Depatment. Dkt. 27 at 33. By thiKilby-Robb apparently meatisat Pfeltzreceived frequent
promotions whereas KilbyRobb did not. She writes in her brief:

After Ms. Pfeltz was hired [as a Management and Program Analyst], chead

a merit pronotion or step increase every single year of her employment. She

consistently was allowed to jump two grades at a time, and received six grade

promotions and two quality step increase[s] in her first seven years/Agehey.

Moreover, in 2011, she was promoted to the Supervisory Management and Program

Analyst position . . . .

[Meanwhile,] Ms. KilbyRobb was repeatedly denied promotions|] in favor of

younger Caucasian employees, and despite her extensive credentials and

experiences, remains at the sagnade and step that she was hired at in 2000. . . .

Whatever process the Agency followed here did not comply with the Merit plan.
Id. at 33-34 (citation omitted).But, again, nothing about this stagises the inference of
unlawful discrimination.Kilby-Robb’s description of the facts is consistent with—and, indeed,
provides further support forthe Department’s proffered justification that Pfeltz was simply the
more qualified candidate.

Third, Kilby-Robb asserts thattfe vacancyannouncement did not use the standard
elements for ‘Grant Management’ and ‘COR’ duties and responsibilities, wigi¢hipcally

used for Supervisory Management and Program Analyst positions.” DRtaP3-(Kilby-Robb
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Decl. 11). To the extent that this contention is premised on the notioplénatiffs can, at
times, rely on an “employer’s failure to follow established proceduresteria” to establish
pretext,Brady, 520 F.3d at 495 n.3, sheay havea point. But “[a]n employer's failure to follow
its own regulations and procedurakne may not be sufficient to support the conclusion that its
explanation for the challenged employment actgopretextual.”Fischbach 86 F.3d at 1183
(emphasis added) (citation and quotation marks omittddje, Kiloy-Robb offers nothing more
than her own conclusory assertion that the vacancy announcement “did not use the standar
elements,” Dkt. 27 at 32, and she offers no evidence suggesting that the announcement was
prepared with the discriminatory or retaliatory motive of disfavoring herh@aantrary, she
asserts that one of thmajor dutie$ listed inthe announcemeadid favor her, given her greater
management experienc8eeDkt. 24-3 at 2 (vacancy announcement) (describing “manag[ing]
and supervis[ing] staff as a “major duty'Nor could a reasonable jury fintiat the ¢thermajor
duties or “unique position requirements” were unmoored from the actual job or crafted to
achieve an impermissible result.

None of these pported procedural defects cgive rise to an inference of
discrimination.

4. Alleged Conspiracy

Lastly, Kilby-Robb argues that Pfeltz was “preselect@di more conspiratorial sense.
According to KilbyRobb’s brief, Pfeltz's “preselection” to the 2011 SMPA position “was
orchestrated by senior officials at the [a]gency.” Dkt. 27 at 2f pFeselection began eight
years earlier in 2003he sayswhenAndersonstarted‘t[elling] each of [KilbyRobb’s]
supervisors that she would never permit her to be promoted and that she hateddh@ifihg

Dkt. 272 at 4 (KilbyRobb Decl. § 8). Then in 2009,” Kilby-Robbwrites, “[her] supervisors

24



[in the PIRC office] decided they wanted to promote a younger, Caucasiaryempdhe
supervisory positiofi. Id. (citing Dkt. 272 at 4 (Kilby-Robb Decl. { 10)). To that engilby-
Robbsays, theytransferred heto the [CSP] program and then refused to assign her any CSP
grants or [allow her to] perform substantive CSP duties in an attempt to bar henfréumtuae
promotions’ Id. at 29-30 (citing Dkt. 272 at 4 (Kilby-Robb Decl. 1 10)). As part of thedfort

to deny KilbyRobb promotion opportunities, Kilby-Robb says, Anderson and other managers
“posted a vacancy announcement[using] selective screening factors” intentionally designed
“to eliminate all others exceptdhyoung, Caucasian female they wanted to promete |

Pfeltz].” Id. at 30. Anderson and the other managers then “instructed” Huh, who “had been in
his position for only three months,” on how to write the vacancy announcement andhselect
candidate.ld. (citing Dkt. 272 at5—6 (Kilby-Robb { 15). In short, Kilby-Robbtheory appears
to be that Anderson and others intentionally deprkadloly -Robbof the substantive skills she
would need to be competitive for the SMPA position, such that “it is impossible to make a
credible comparison of the applicants,” and the Department should be liable fonsliatan

on the groundthata campaign “orchestrated by senior officials” was designedeeentilby -
Robb from becoming qualified for the job for which she was passed ddeat 29, 35.

This theory suffers fromseveral fatal defects=irst, it contradicts KilbyRobb's earlier
contention that she&rasnot only qualified, but was so mucktterqualifiedthan Pfeltzhatthe
gapcould giverise to an inference of discriminatory bigsee supr#art Ill.A.1L Secondthe
theory depends on the unsupported claim of conspiracy, derived only from Kilby-Robb’s

speculatiorregarding the intentions of third parties of which she hgsensonaknowledge.

5> To the extent that KilbyRobb meansnerely to argue for a “cat’s paw” theory of
discrimination, that effort must also faéls the Court explains belovéee infraPart 111.B.2
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SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(4) (requiring that declaration used to oppose motions for summary
judgment “be made on personal knowledge”). Beyond Kilby-Robb’s unsupported deolarati
there is no evidence in the record to suggest that Andersaimyone elsbhad any influence over
the SMPA selection panel. To the contratyof the evidence offered on personal knowledge
supports the conclusion that Anderson played no rdiéehiz’'sselection SeeDkt. 24-1 at 47
(Huh Aff. 19117-19); Dkt. 24-2 at 3 (Anderson Aff. 1§ 9-1id));at 11 (Knight Aff 119-13);id.
at 20 (Araujo Aff. 11 14-15)d. at 31 (Ceja Aff. 114—-15). Third, this theory, even if credited,
does nothing to establish thhe “senior officials” who “orchestrated” KilbRRobb’s
nonselection did so because of her race, age, or color.

In sum,Kilby-Robb has not even allegedet-aloneadducecvidenceto show—that all
three panelists conspired with Anderswranyone elsto deny KilbyRobb a promotion because
of her age, race, or color. Her unsubstantiatexdjations are insufficient @low a reasonable
jury to disbelieve the Department’s stated rationale for Kimpb’s nonselection-ramely, that
Pfeltz was a better fit for the position.

B. Retaliation Under Title VIl and the ADEA

Kilby-Robb also alleges that Hsklected Pfeltz ovérer for the 2011 SMPA positiom
retaliation for KilbyRobb’ssubstantial prior EEO activityDkt. 1 at 1 (Compl. § 1)Thisclaim
requires proof that retaliatory motives were the “but for” cause of Kiblgb’s nonselection.
Univ. of Texas Sw. Med. Ctr. v. Nassh83 S. Ct. 2517, 2533 (2013). As evidenGéy-Robb
points to(1) her“multiple ongoing acts of protected activity” (although the only “protected
activities” she identifies are her five prior EEO complaittie last of which occurred in August
2010); and (2jhat her brief describes #% “continued harassment” to which she hadrb

subjected“including statements by. . Anderson that she hates [Kilby-Robb] and will never
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permit her to be promoted[,] and statements by her supervisors and other managécredsit off
that she should have been fired for filing an[] EEO complaint or that she knows what is
happening to her is in relation to her EEO complaint.” Dkt. 27 a¢elRale supraPat |.A
(listing Kilby-Robb’s allegationsegarding her “continued harassment”). None of this evidence
would permit a reasonable jury to find thia¢ Department’s proffered justification is false and
thatretaliatory motives were the biar cause oKilby-Robb’s nonselection.

1. EEO Complaints

Kilby-Robb’s argument seems to be thatlBEO complaintsweresufficiently
temporally proximate to the nonselection to give rise to an inference adtietal SeeDkt. 27
at40-42. This argumeind twice flawed First, Kilby-Robb has adduced no evidence tinat
of the three decisionmakersAraujo and Ceja—were even aware ¢ilby-Robb’s prior EEO
complaintsat the time ohernonselection.SeeDkt. 27 at 40-42. Tithe contrarypothhave
attestedthat they were notSeeDkt. 24-2 at 19 (Araujo Aff. B); id. at 30 (Ceja Aff. 1B); cf.
Dkt. 24-1 at 45 (Huh Aff. | 7)aerringthat, as of March 2012, Kilby-Robb had informed Huh
about her prioEEOactivity). Second“[o]nce an employer has put forth legitimate, non-
retaliatoryreasons for a challenged actionas-the Department has done kefpositive
evidencebeyond mere proximitig required to defeat the presumption that the pretf
explanations are genuifieAllen, 795 F.3d at 47 (emphasis addédfations and internal
guotation marks omitted). dfle, it appears that KilbRobb was involved, at one level or
another, in protected EEO activityr most—if not all—of the time from 2002 to the present.
SeeDkt. 27-2 at 25supraPart I.A(listing court cases)Although Title VII and the ADEA

protecther from adverse employment action taken because of that actieyyddhnot give her
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an automatiaight to go to a jury omanyclaim of retaliation over the past fifteen yeaiat least
not withoutmore

Kilby-Robb suggests that the D.C. Circuit’s decisioBimgletary v. District of
Columbig 351 F.3d 519 (D.C. Cir. 2003), provides just such a ri§eeDkt. 27 at 40-42 Her
reliance on that case, however, is misplacgahgletaryconcerned only the showing necessary
to makeout a prima faciecaseof retaliation and held thathe district court erred by failing to
consider certain categories of protected activitpamdy, two letters the plaintiff's counsel had
sentregarding the status of the case, and the plaintiff's “attempt to litigate his cldiimgpyan
appeal to the D.C. Court of Appeals.” 351 F.3d at 524-25. Here, by contrastaly@s of any
prima faciecase has already “fall[en] awallen, 795 F.3d at 39, so evidenoceyondmere
proximity is necessaryd. at 47.

2. Alleged “Continued Harassment”

Kilby-Robb’s description of her “continued harassmeiatds not fill this evidentiary
gap Omitting theportions of Kilby-Robb’s declaration and interrogatory respotisss
describe eventsot within her personal knowledge, and omitting those portions that are not
probative of retaliatory animus, the Court is left with three pieces of evidence:

(1) Thestatements of KilyRobb’s various supervisors between 2003 and 2008 that
Anderson said she “hates” Kill/gobb and that she “would never promote her.”

(2) The 2004 statement of Kilby-Robb’s theaeeondline supervisor, Nina Rees, that Kilby-
Robb “should have been *fired’ for filing an EEO complainThis statement was
litigated to trial in one of KilbyRobb’s prior lawsuits.See supraote 1.)

(3) The undated statement of Kilby-Robb’s tHest-line supervisor, John Fiegel, that he

had previously planned to submit a request for payment on [her] behalf for [her] service
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as an ‘acting team leader,” but that “he was no longer going to submitdhisste
because [she] had filed an EEO cagdthough Kilby-Robb does not provide the precise
date for ths statement, it appears that Fiegel served as her direct supervisor at most
between 2002 and 2067.
Dkt. 272 at 4 (Kilby-Robb Decl. 11 8, 9).
Because none of this evidenmencernghe actuahonselection decisionmakers, Kilby-
Robb seems to be hintirag a“cat’s paw” theory of retaliation (although she provides no such
argument in her brief, and cites none of the relevant cases). thedeat's paw'theory, “an
employer can be liable when a direct supervisor harbors discriminatorydlatoet/] animus
and influences the ultimate decision maker, even if that decision maker laakis@myinatory
[or retaliatory] animus.”Noisette v. Lew-- F. Supp. 3d--, 2016 WL 5674786, at *16 (D.D.C.
Sept. 30, 2016) (citin§taub v. Proctor Hosp562 U.S. 411, 419 (2011)¥To prevail on a
‘cat's paw’ theory, the plaintiff must show that ‘(1) [the direct] supervisor pefatiiran act
motivated by discriminatory animus (2) that [wadpndedby the [direct] supervisor to cause an
adverse employment action, and (3) that act [was] a proximate cause of the ultimate
employment action.”Id. (alterations in original) (quotinglorris, 825 F.3cat 668.
Applying this standardilby-Robb’s“cat’s paw” theory must fail. KilbyRobb has
identifiedno discriminatory or retaliatory act by Anderson, Rees, or Figel thatrhesusal
link to her 2011 nonselection. Thaly evidence in the record, moreover, falls on the other side
of theledger: Huh, Araujo,and Ceja all attestetiat neither Anderson, Knight, nor any other

official played any role in the 2011 SMPA selection, nor influenced their decrsemyiway.

® The Court assumes for present purposes that these statements could be presfartad in a
admissible at trial.
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SeeDkt. 24-1 at 47 (Huh Aff. 1 17-19); Dkt. 24-2 at 20 (Araujo Aff19%15); id. at 31 (Ceja
Aff. 1 14-15). Anderson and Knighlsoattestedhat they were not involved. Dkt. 24aP 3
(Anderson Aff. 1 9-14)d. at 11 (Knight Aff. 1 9-14 Other breaks in the causal chain
moreoverjnclude the fact thahe earlieistatements all eae from Kilby-Robb’s supervisors in
the PIRC program (not the CSP), and the fact that they pribgat®nselection by at least three
years, and in someases, closer to eighiNo reasonable jury could find that'@at's paw” theory
applieshere.
CONCLUSION

The Court will accordingly GRANT the Department’snotion for summary judgment

(Dkt. 24).

A separate order will issue.

/s/ Randolph D. Moss
RANDOLPH D. MOSS
United States District Judge

Date: March30, 2017
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